Brief of Appellant Filed 03-10-2022

Page 1 of 43

FILED 03-10-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Case No. 2021AP002001 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JOHN R. BROTT,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal From a Final Order and Judgment of Conviction of the Waukesha County Circuit Court, the Honorable Jennifer R. Dorow, Presiding.

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

JASON D. LUCZAK State Bar No. 1070883 jluczak@grgblaw.com

JORGE R. FRAGOSO State Bar No. 1089114 jfragoso@grgblaw.com

Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant.

ISSUES PRESENTED
POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS
ARGUMENT
I. The sentencing court is not bound by the mandatory minimum sentence of Wis. Stat. § 939.617(1) because it conflicts with the permissive language of Wis. Stat. § 948.12(1m).
A. Standard of review; principles of law 12
B. The term "may" in Wis. Stat. § 948.12 and the term "shall" in Wis. Stat. § 939.617 are irreconcilable
C. There is no clear, binding precedent as to how to harmonize Wis. Stat. §§ 939.617(1) and 948.12(1m)
1. In <i>Holcomb</i> , this court held that the word "or" in Wis. Stat. § 939.617(2) did not allow a sentencing court to deviate from the mandatory minimum without regard for the defendant's age
2. In <i>Lalicata</i> , this court held that the phrase "shall impose" prohibited probation. 16
3. In Williams, the Supreme Court held that a statute that said a sentence

"shall not be less than 3 years" was ambiguous on its face
D. Because the plain meaning of the two statutes cannot be read together, this court should follow the permissive language of the substantive statute, Wis. Stat. § 948.12, and disregard Wis. Stat. § 939.617
E. Because the plain meaning of the two statutes cannot be read together, this court should apply the rule of lenity 22
II. The conflicting penalty provisions of Wis. Stat. §§ 948.12 and 939.617 violate the Equal Protection Clause and require setting aside Wis. Stat. § 939.617
III. The proper remedy for Brott is a new sentencing hearing with instructions to the sentencing court to forgo Wis. Stat. § 939.617.
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATION AS TO FORM/LENGTH 33
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 809.19(12)
CERTIFICATION AS TO APPENDIX 34

Case 2021AP002001 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-10-2022 Page 4 of 43

# **CASES CITED**

State v. Cissell, 127 Wis. 2d 205, 378 N.S.2d 691 (1985) 25
State v. Cole, 2003 WI 59, 262 Wis. 2d 167, 663 N.W.2d 700
State v. Duffy, 54 Wis. 2d 61, 194 N.W.2d 624 (1972) 13, 18
In re Joseph E.G., 2001 WI App 29, 240 Wis. 2d 481, 623 N.W.2d 137 26
In Matter of Complaint Against Grady, 118 Wis. 2d 762, 348 N.W.2d 559 (1984) 22
In re Felony Sentencing Guidelines, 120 Wis. 2d 198, 353 N.W.2d 793 (1984) 22
State v. Holcomb, 2016 WI App 70, 371 Wis. 2d 647, 886 N.W.2d 100passim
State v. Holmes, 106 Wis. 2d 31, 315 N.W.2d 703 (1982) 21, 22
State ex rel. Kalal v. Dane County, 2004 WI 58, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110 12, 20, 21
Kelly v. Brown, 2016 WI App 31, 368 Wis. 2d 353, 879 N.W.2d 127 12
State v. Lalicata, 2012 WI App 138, 345 Wis. 2d 342, 824 N.W.2d 921passim
Layton School of Art & Design v. WERC, 82 Wis. 2d 324, 262 N.W.2d 218 (1978) 22
State v. McManus, 152 Wis. 2d 113, 447 N.W.2d 654 (1989) 25, 26

State	v. Meddaugh,
	148 Wis. 2d 204, 425 N.W.2d 269 (Ct. App. 1988)
State	v. Morris, 108 Wis. 2d 282, 322 N.W.2d 264 (1982) 23
State	v. Spears, 227 Wis. 2d 495, 596 N.W.2d 375 (1999) 28
State	v. Tiepelman, 2006 WI 66, 291 Wis. 2d 179, 717 N.W.2d 1
State	v. Travis, 2013 WI 38, 347 Wis. 2d 142, 832 N.W.2d 491
State	v. Williams, 2014 WI 64, 355 Wis. 2d 581, 852 N.W.2d 467passim
State	v. Wilson, 77 Wis. 2d 15, 252 N.W.2d 64 (1977) 23
Wood	len v. United States, 595 U. S (2022) No. 20–5279, slip op. (Mar. 7, 2022) 23, 24

### CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS AND STATUTES CITED

<b>United States Constitution</b>
Equal Protection Clausepassim
Wisconsin Constitution
Article IV, Sec. 1
Article V, Sec. 1
Article VII, Sec. 2-4
Wisconsin Statutes
Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(AM)6 19, 20
Wis. Stat. § 939.167
Wis. Stat. § 939.616(1R)
Wis. Stat. § 939.617(1)passim
Wis. Stat. § 939.617(2)
Wis. Stat. § 939.617(3)
Wis. Stat. § 948.02 16, 17, 20, 21
Wis. Stat. § 948.12(1m)
Wis. Stat. § 948.12(3)(A)
Wis. Stat. § 973.01(1)
Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2)
Wis. Stat. § 973.09

Case 2021AP002001 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-10-2022 Page 7 of 43

# OTHER AUTHORITIES CITED

2011	Wieconein	1 of 979	(	26
$\Delta U \perp \perp$	VV ISCOUSIU A	ACU 2/2		Z()

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether the sentencing court is bound by the mandatory minimum sentence of Wis. Stat. § 939.617(1) when it conflicts with the permissive language of the substantive statute, Wis. Stat. § 948.12(1m)?

The circuit court answered yes.

This court should answer no. The conflict between the two statutes is irreconcilable. This court should remand with instructions to set aside the mandatory language of Wis. Stat. § 939.617 and sentence the defendant according to Wis. Stat. § 948.12.

 Whether the conflicting penalty provisions of this offense violate the Equal Protection Clause?
 The circuit court answered no.

This court should answer yes. A review of similar cases reveals that after the amendment of Wis. Stat. § 939.617, effective April 23, 2012, and even after the decision in *State v. Holcomb*, there are circuit courts throughout Wisconsin that order probation and impose sentences with less than three years of initial confinement. The disparate and arbitrary imposition of the mandatory minimum violates the Equal Protection Clause.

#### POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Appellant believes that publication is necessary and appropriate to provide guidance to circuit courts regarding interpretation of Wis. Stat. §§ 939.617(1) and 948.12(1m) and the application of the Equal Protection Clause to the mandatory minimum bifurcated sentence imposed by the circuit court. Existing precedent examining applicable mandatory minimum sentences are in conflict, and publication is necessary to provide clear guidance.

Although Appellant's brief fully presents the issues and develops the theories and legal authorities, Appellant does not oppose oral argument if the court believes that it would not be of such marginal value that it does not justify the additional expenditure of court time.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 9, 2019, the state filed a felony summons for John Brott. (4). The summons accompanied a 10-count criminal complaint alleging 10 violations of Wis. Stat. § 948.12(1m) between February 23, 2019 and June 4, 2019. (1). Brott appeared initially with Attorney Thomas C. Simon on July 22, 2019 and was released on a signature bond with strict conditions prohibiting him from accessing any child exploitation material and any other sexually explicit material, from contacting any minor over the

Case 2021AP002001 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-10-2022 Page 10 of 43

internet or using a website to gather information about a minor, from intentionally deleting any history from any computer or device that accesses the internet, and from using any application where the content automatically deletes upon the recipient opening the content. (71). Brott waived his right to a preliminary hearing on August 28, 2019, and the state filed an information mirroring the charges of the criminal complaint. (10).

After two appearances before the trial court, the matter was set for jury status and jury trial in late February 2020. On January 31, 2020, Brott, by counsel, filed a letter with the court requesting a plea hearing and asking the court to remove the matter from the trial calendar. (18). The request was granted. Brott was given a hearing on April 15, 2020 to change his plea. The hearing was delayed due to the COVID pandemic and the Waukesha Court's Order for All Criminal Cases. (20).

On October 12, 2020, undersigned counsel filed a notice of appearance on behalf of Brott. (23). On November 13, 2020, counsel filed a motion to suppress statements and other evidence the state intended to use at trial. (30; 33). Counsel also filed a motion to adjourn the jury trial. (32). Pursuant to its negotiations with the state, Brott changed his plea during the next hearing, thereby withdrawing the motions filed before the hearing. (77). He entered a guilty plea on one count of possession of child pornography, and the state agreed to read-in the

remaining nine counts and to recommend a sentence of three years of initial confinement and three years of extended supervision. (36; 77). Both parties agreed to stipulate to "five counts for the purposes of the child pornography surcharge" for a total of \$2,500. (36:2). The court ordered a presentence investigation. (39).

On February 5, 2021, Brott filed a motion to set aside the minimum sentencing provisions set forth in Wis. Stat. § 939.617. (41). The state filed a short response. (45). Brott also filed a packet of character letters and a sentencing memorandum, and the state filed a victim impact statement, filed under seal. (46; 47; 49). Brott also filed a motion requesting release of bond pending appeal. (48). The sentencing hearing took place on May 5, 2021. (76). The court, the Honorable Jennifer R. Dorow presiding, denied Brott's motion to set aside the minimum sentencing provisions and sentenced Brott to 3 years of initial confinement and 3 years of extended supervision. (60). The court granted Brott's motion for release on bond pending appeal. Brott filed a timely notice of appeal. (80).

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The National Center for Missing and Exploited Children (hereinafter NCMEC) detected an image that it believed to be child sexual abuse material, which was uploaded to IP address 65.26.228.1595 on February 23, 2019. (1:6). Based on the tip from NCMEC, the Wisconsin Department of Justice

Case 2021AP002001 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-10-2022 Page 12 of 43

obtained an administrative search warrant for the IP address and connected the upload to a Charter Communications customer named John Brott. (*Id.*). On May 28, 2019, the New Berlin Police Department obtained a search warrant for the home of John Brott. (*Id.*). The warrant was executed on June 4, 2019 and resulted in the confiscation of numerous electronic devices. (1:7). Among them were internet searches and at least twenty-five images believed to be child sexual abuse material. (1:7-9).

During an interview with law enforcement, Brott "was adamant that any images or Internet search history regarding pornography [were] his" and that his wife "was not into pornography and would not be responsible for any images or search histories." (1:7). He "denied anyone else would have had access to his computers or other devices to try and view pornography." (*Id.*). Brott's wife said that she was not involved in her husband's viewing or downloading of pornography, and she claimed that Brott had admitted to her in the past that he viewed child sexual abuse material. (1:9).

The motion to suppress filed on Brott's behalf alleged that "NCMEC, PhotoDNA and Microsoft BingImage acted as agents of the government and that these organizations conspired to commit illegal searches of Brott's property." (31:1). The motion raised several legal challenges

At such hearing, the principal legal issues will focus on: (1) whether the National Center for

Missing & Exploited Children ("NCMEC"), PhotoDNA, and Microsoft acted as government agents in their warrantless searches of Brott's computer and internet usage; (2) the coordination between NCMEC, PhotoDNA, and Microsoft; (3) the circumstances surrounding the interception and search of the accounts and devices prior to and during the creation of the Cybertip report at issue; (4) testimony from NCMEC and Microsoft regarding their aforementioned searches and coordination; and (5) testimony from law enforcement regarding the creation of the Cybertip report and whether the law enforcement activities related to the investigation of the Cybertip violated Brott's rights under the Fourth, Fifth, and Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution.

(30:2-3).

The motion to suppress Brott's statements claimed they were the fruit of the illegal search and were obtained in violation of Brott's constitutional rights. (33). However, both motions were implicitly withdrawn during the plea hearing. (77). The only motion that remained before the court was an oral motion in which Brott's counsel informed the court that she intended to argue before sentencing that the court was not bound by the minimum sentence provisions of Wis. Stat. § 973.617. (77:3-4). The court agreed to hear this argument after the plea hearing and gave Brott's counsel a deadline to file a written motion regarding the issue. (77:4). The state did not object to the decision to hear argument. (77:3-4).

During the plea colloquy, the court informed Brott that it would "hear the argument" regarding the Case 2021AP002001 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-10-2022 Page 14 of 43

applicability of the mandatory minimum sentence provision to his case, but it ensured that Brott understood "what the statute says about the mandatory minimum," i.e., that "pursuant to [Wis. Stat. §] 939.167, upon conviction the court shall impose a bifurcated sentence, including a term of initial confinement for at least 3 years." (77:5-6,7).

Counsel moved the court to set aside the mandatory sentencing provisions of Wis. Stat. § 939.617(1). (41). Counsel argued that the use of the word "may" in Wis. Stat. § 948.12 gives the sentencing court discretion to set aside Wis. Stat. § 939.617. (41:1-2). In support of the motion, counsel attached three exhibits showing that courts across the state had imposed and/or stayed sentences that did not adhere to the plain language of Wis. Stat. § 939.617. (41:14-32). Counsel argued that the disparity between those sentencing courts that believe they are bound by a mandatory minimum sentence and those that do not believe they are bound by a mandatory minimum sentence created an equal protection challenge wherein anyone who appeared before one of the courts that applied Wis. Stat. § 939.617 indiscriminately was subject to a higher minimum sentence than anyone fortunate enough to be sentenced by one of the other courts. (41:2).

At the beginning of the sentencing hearing, the court addressed Brott's motion regarding the mandatory minimum sentence. (76:4; App. 107). The court found that *State v. Holcomb* was "on point and

controlling," even though it did not address Brott's argument "that [Wis. Stat. §] 948.12(1m) allows for this to be non-mandatory." (*Id.*). The court found that Wis. Stat. § 939.617 "is not an ambiguous statute" and affirmed that it had "no doubt concerning the mandatory nature of the requirement for a bifurcated sentence and a 3-year minimum term of initial confinement." (76:5; App. 108). The court also found that "what other courts ... or other prosecutors have been doing" in cases across the state in which they do not abide by Wis. Stat. § 939.617 "comes down to prosecutorial discretion or the courts perhaps not fully understanding *Holcomb*" and that Brott's equal protection argument was inapposite. (76:30; App. 133). The court denied Brott's motion to set aside the provisions of Wis. Stat. § 939.617 and found that Brott did not meet the criteria for the exception to the mandatory minimum sentence in Wis. Stat. § 939.617(2) and (3). (76:6; App. 109).

During its sentencing remarks, the state gave Brott credit for taking responsibility for the illicit material on his devices, claiming ownership of it, and cooperating with law enforcement. (76:10; App. 113). The state also pointed out that Brott had a minimal criminal record—only one disorderly conduct from 2016—and, aside from this case, a "relatively good character." (*Id.*). The state considered certain prosocial

 $<sup>^1</sup>$   $State\ v.\ Holcomb$ , 2016 WI App 70, 371 Wis. 2d 647, 886 N.W.2d 100.

Case 2021AP002001 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-10-2022 Page 16 of 43

aspects of his life positive and credited Brott and his wife with raising children that are successful and contribute to society. (76:12; App. 115). It pointed out that Brott did not distribute pornography, and although he engaged in some *post hoc* justifications and criminal thinking, the PSI writer determined he was low risk in most of the relevant categories. (76:13-15; App. 116-18).

Defense counsel relied on its memorandum during sentencing but also highlighted the collateral consequences that Brott suffered because of this case. collateral (76:19-20;App. 122-123). Those consequences including, among others.registration requirements, restrictions on living arrangements and relationships, and freedom of movement in the community – impose an additional measure of deterrence, beyond that created by the initial confinement portion of the sentence. (76:25; App. 128). In addition, counsel pointed out that the forensic examination demonstrated that the images in question were deleted shortly after being seen rather than being stored or shared. (76:22; App. 125). Counsel argued that the imposition of the mandatory minimum sentence harms the least severe offenders, the people who were likely to receive less than the mandatory minimum sentence, rather than those who were likely to receive a sentence closer to the statutory maximum. (76:23; App. 126). Counsel did not make a sentencing recommendation but urged the court to consider a sentence below what it ruled was the minimum

Case 2021AP002001 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-10-2022 Page 17 of 43

sentence. (76:26; App. 129). Brott spoke on his own behalf as well. He delivered a personal and contrite message to the sentencing court. (76:27-28; App. 130-131).

During its sentencing remarks, the court discussed the effect these images have on the children they featured at great length. (76:29-34; App. 132-137). The court imputed culpability to Brott, saying, "there's a market for this," and Brott was willingly "part of that market." (76:34; App. 137). This case involved approximately "68 images of suspected child pornography," and the court determined that, "on the spectrum of child porn cases," this case "is fairly typical." (76:35; App. 138). It is mitigated by the fact that Brott did not engage in trading or collecting the photos and that he took "full responsibility" during an hour-long meeting with law enforcement. (76:35-36; App. 138-139).

The court found that Brott needed sex offender treatment and that the offense was a serious one because of the nature of the crime. (76:38; App. 141). However, the court found that this case was "on the more mitigated range" of cases involving child pornography. (76:39; App. 142).

The court sentenced Brott to what it believed was the minimum sentence:

Your character is solid. Yes, this is a character flaw at this point. Yes, this is a mark against what was otherwise a very solid moral character, but your character nonetheless.

When I consider the need to protect the community, this is one of those situations where again, the legislature has curbed my discretion, has told me I must impose a bifurcated sentence with an initial term of confinement, the minimum of 3 years. But when I factor in your willingness to do treatment, when I factor what your attorney has described, right? The totality of who you are, the holistic view of who you are, I do not believe there needs to be more than 3 years of initial confinement.

I think three is appropriate. It is the mandatory minimum.

(76:39; App. 142).

After praising the professionalism and reliability of the PSI writer, the court quoted the PSI's comments about Brott favorably and imposed the sentence the PSI writer recommended: 3 years of initial confinement and 2 years of extended supervision. (76:40-41; App. 143-144).

In response to Brott's motion for release on bond pending appeal, the court found that Brott was not likely to commit a serious crime and that it was not likely he would fail to appear. (76:44; App. 147). The court granted his motion for release subject to conditions of bond. (76:45; App. 148).

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. The sentencing court is not bound by the mandatory minimum sentence of Wis. Stat. § 939.617(1) because it conflicts with the permissive language of Wis. Stat. § 948.12(1m).
  - A. Standard of review; principles of law.

This case concerns the interpretation of Wis. Stat. §§ 939.617 and 948.12. The meaning of a statute is a question of law that this court reviews de novo. State v. Holcomb, 2016 WI App 70, ¶ 4, 371 Wis. 2d 647, 886 N.W.2d 100 (citing Kelly v. Brown, 2016 WI App 31, ¶ 8, 368 Wis. 2d 353, 879 N.W.2d 127).

The pertinent statutory language must be read "in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as a part of a whole; in relation to the language closely-related surrounding or statutes: reasonably, to avoid absurd or unreasonable results." State v. Lalicata, 2012 WI App 138, ¶ 8, 345 Wis. 2d 342, 824 N.W.2d 921 (citing State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cnty., 2004 WI 58, ¶ 46, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110). If a statute is ambiguous, i.e., if it is capable of being understood by reasonably well-informed persons in two or more senses, the court may consider extrinsic sources such as legislative history to discern the meaning of the statute. State v. Williams, 2014 WI 64, ¶ 19, 355 Wis. 2d 581, 852 N.W.2d 467 (emphasis added).

Case 2021AP002001 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-10-2022 Page 20 of 43

B. The term "may" in Wis. Stat. § 948.12 and the term "shall" in Wis. Stat. § 939.617 are irreconcilable.

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