Filed 06-08-2022

FILED 06-08-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2021AP2001-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JOHN R. BROTT,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN WAUKESHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JENNIFER DOROW PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SONYA K. BICE Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1058115

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-3935 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) bicesk@doj.state.wi.us

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

C. The child pornography and mandatory minimum statutes.

The mandatory minimum statute.

The applicable version of the mandatory minimum statute, Wis. Stat. § 939.617(1) (2017-18), states that a court "shall impose" at least three years of prison time for anyone

aged 18 or over who is convicted under Wis. Stat. § 948.12 for possessing child pornography:

Except as provided in subs. (2) and (3), if a person is convicted of a violation of s. . . . 948.12, the court shall impose a bifurcated sentence under s. 973.01. The term of *confinement in prison* portion of the bifurcated sentence *shall be at least* . . . *3 years* for violations of s. 948.12. Otherwise the penalties for the crime apply

Wis. Stat. § 939.617(1). As it states, there are two exceptions. The first is when the convicted person is less than forty-eight months older than the child depicted in the pornographic images. Wis. Stat. § 939.617(2)(b). The second is when the convicted person is under 18 years old. Wis. Stat. § 939.617(3).

Before it was amended in 2012, section 939.617 provided *presumptive* minimum sentences for violations of section 948.12. If a court found that it would be in the best interests of the community and that the public would not be harmed, and explained its reasoning, it could impose a shorter-than minimum sentence, or probation, for any violation of section 948.12. Wis. Stat. § 939.617 (2009-10).

The statute was amended by 2011 Wis. Act 272, which was enacted on April 9, 2012. (R-App. 3.)

A Legislative Council Act Memo prepared five days before 2011 Wis. Act 272 took effect explains the amended law. It states, "2011 Wisconsin Act 272 removes court discretion to apply a sentence below the mandatory minimum for certain child sex crimes unless the offender is no more than four years older than the victim." (R-App. 4.)

The memo explains that the prior law set forth minimum sentences for violations of section 948.12 but gave courts discretion not to impose a minimum sentence. It stated:

Under prior law, a court could impose probation or a sentence that was less than the mandatory minimum if it found that the best interests of the community would be served and the public would not be harmed, and if the court placed its reasons on the record.

(R-App. 4.)

The memo then explains the changes under the new law, stating:

Under Act 272, a court may impose probation or a sentence that is less than the mandatory minimum under specific circumstances involving young offenders. The Act provides that a court may not impose a sentence below the mandatory minimum unless . . . the offender is convicted of possession of child pornography, and is no more than 48 months older than the child.

(R-App. 4.)

The child pornography possession statute.

Wisconsin Stat. § 948.12(1m), the applicable child pornography statute, states as relevant here, "Whoever possesses, or accesses in any way with the intent to view, any ..., photograph, ... of a child engaged in sexually explicit conduct... may be penalized under sub. (3)."

Wisconsin Stat. § 948.12(3)(a) states, "a person who violates sub. (1m) . . . is guilty of a Class D felony." The second subsection states that if the person who violates the statute is under age 18, the offense is a Class I felony. Wis. Stat. § 948.12(3)(b).

The language at issue in (1m) and (3) of the statute was added when the statute was amended to increase penalties for the offense.

When the child pornography possession statute was first enacted in 1988 as part of Chapter 948, Crimes Against Children, the relevant language stated that whoever knowingly "possesses any . . . photograph . . . of a child engaged in sexually explicit conduct . . . *is guilty* of a Class E felony." *See* 1987 Wis. Act 332 (emphasis added). The legislature then enacted 2001 Wis. Act 109, which changed the felony level for the offense from a Class E to a Class I felony.

The legislature then enacted 2005 Wis. Act 433, which deleted the language designating the offense a Class I felony and instead created the language at issue in this case. The new statute changed "is guilty of a Class I felony" to "may be penalized under sub. (3)." *See* 2005 Wis. Act 433. It added sub. (3), which makes the offense a Class I felony for persons under 18 and a Class D felony for everyone else.

The Wisconsin Legislative Council Act Memo for 2005 Wis. Act 433 stated that the Act "generally increases the penalties for . . . possession of child pornography, imposes a presumptive minimum prison sentence for those offenses, and requires persons convicted of [it] to pay a child pornography surcharge." (R-App. 5.)

The bifurcated sentence statute relevant to a Class D felony.

Wisconsin Stat. § 973.01(1), which was enacted in 1998, states that except for circumstances not relevant here, "whenever a court sentences a person to imprisonment in the Wisconsin state prisons for a felony committed on or after December 31, 1999, the court shall impose a bifurcated sentence" under this section. *See* 1997 Wis. Act 283, § 419.

The statute also describes how a bifurcated sentence, defined as "a sentence that consists of a term of confinement in prison followed by a term of extended supervision," is to be structured. Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2). It sets the maximums for both portions. For a Class D felony, "[t]he portion of the bifurcated sentence that imposes a term of confinement in prison may not be less than one year and . . . may not exceed 15 years." Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2)(b)4. For a Class D felony, "[t]he term of extended supervision may not be less than 25 percent of the length of the term of confinement in prison . . . and . . . may not exceed 10 years." Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2)(d)3.

D. The plain language of section 939.617 requires imposing a three-year prison sentence in this case.

Brott is an adult convicted of violating section 948.12 by possessing child pornography. (R. 60.) By its plain language, section 939.617(1) states that a circuit court "shall impose" on such a person "a bifurcated sentence under s. 973.01," and that the "term of confinement in prison portion of the bifurcated sentence shall be at least . . . 3 years for violations of s. 948.12."

Giving all these words their "common, ordinary, and accepted meaning," the "meaning of the statute is plain." See Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 45. That "ordinarily stop[s] the inquiry." See id. This Court is required to interpret section 939.617 "reasonably, to avoid absurd or unreasonable results." See id. ¶ 46. And because "[a]n interpretation that contravenes the manifest purpose of the statute is unreasonable," see Dinkins, 339 Wis. 2d 78, ¶ 29, this Court is precluded from interpreting section 939.617 in a way that contravenes its purpose of requiring a mandatory minimum prison sentence for persons convicted of possessing child pornography.

Here, "the meaning of the statute is plain," and in such cases, that "ordinarily stop[s] the inquiry." See Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 45. This Court may, however, consult "legislative history . . . to confirm or verify a plain-meaning interpretation." James, 397 Wis. 2d 517, ¶ 26 (quoting Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 51). "Similarly, 'statutory history' may also be used as part of 'plain meaning analysis." Id. (citing Richards, 309 Wis. 2d 541, ¶ 22).

The legislative history of section 939.617 verifies the plain-meaning interpretation in this case because it shows that the legislature deliberately amended the statute in order to strip circuit courts of the discretion to impose probation or any sentence other than the mandatory minimum when sentencing an offender who is at least 18 and at least 48 months older than the child depicted in the pornographic images. The statutory history of section 948.12—the evolution from "is guilty of a Class E felony" to "is guilty of a Class I felony" and then "may be penalized under (sub)3. [as either a Class I or Class D felony depending on age]"—"may be used as a part of" the analysis. *James*, 397 Wis. 2d 517, ¶ 26. It reflects the legislature's evolving approach to discretion for sentencing young offenders. Its relevance here is that it shows that the words Brott relies on were added to create different felony levels for defendants of different ages, not to make the penalties for the felonies optional.

Brott concedes that "[i]n isolation, [section 939.617] appears to limit the sentencing court's discretion by demanding that it impose, at minimum, a bifurcated sentence that includes no less than three years of initial confinement." (Brott's Br. 20.)

Although Brott does not develop an argument on this point, he appears to imply that a mandatory sentence can be imposed and stayed. (Brott's Br. 21 ("Nevertheless, the use of the word 'shall' in Wis. Stat. § 939.617 makes a bifurcated sentence with a period of three years of initial confinement mandatory, *even if stayed.*") (emphasis added).) The decisions of the Wisconsin Supreme Court in *State v. Williams* and this Court in *State v. Lalicata* foreclose such an interpretation of a mandatory minimum statute.

In *State v. Lalicata*, the defendant, who was subject to a mandatory minimum statute for a child sex crime, argued that "his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to realize that the court could *impose but stay the mandatory minimum* sentence and give probation instead." *State v. Lalicata*, 2012 WI App 138, ¶ 3, 345 Wis. 2d 342, 824 N.W.2d 921 (emphasis added). This Court "reject[ed] Lalicata's implausible reading, that the 'impose and stay' option is available" when a statute requires that a court "shall impose" sentence. *Id.* \P 16.

Williams had argued that the text of the mandatory minimum statute for a seventh offense OWI did not require a court to impose a bifurcated sentence including three years of prison time; he argued that it required that if the court imposed a bifurcated sentence, the period of confinement in prison had to be at least three years. State v. Williams, 2014 WI 64, ¶ 3, 355 Wis. 2d 581, 852 N.W.2d 467. At sentencing, he had made this argument and "requested that the court either withhold sentence and place him on probation or stay any imposed prison sentence." Id. ¶ 11. The circuit court rejected the argument that it could stay the sentence, concluding that the statute required it to impose a bifurcated sentence with a three-year prison term. Id. \P 13. The Wisconsin Supreme Court ultimately upheld that interpretation. Id. ¶ 47. In response to Williams' argument that because the mandatory minimum statute at issue "does not explicitly prohibit probation, the sentencing court retains the option to order it," the court stated, "[T] his is true only if [the statute] does not impose a mandatory minimum sentence of three years initial confinement." Id. ¶ 34 (emphasis added). It cited *Lalicata* for the proposition that "a mandatory minimum bifurcated sentence is inconsistent with permitting probation." Id.

Thus, if Brott is implying that a circuit court has the authority to impose and stay a bifurcated sentence that includes mandatory prison time, he is incorrect. This Court has rejected that argument.

Alternatively, if this Court considers the statute ambiguous on the question of whether the mandatory minimum sentence can be imposed and stayed for probation, it should consult the legislative history and conclude that the legislature intended to foreclose that option when it repeatedly moved to increase the penalties for possessing child pornography and to severely limit courts' discretion in sentencing for those offenses. *See Grady*, 302 Wis. 2d 80, ¶ 15 ("If a statute is ambiguous, [a reviewing court] may examine extrinsic sources in order to guide [its] interpretation." (citing *Kalal*, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 50)).

The legislative memo for 2011 Wis. Act 272 explicitly states that "2011 Wisconsin Act 272 removes court discretion to apply a sentence below the mandatory minimum for certain child sex crimes unless the offender is no more than four years older than the victim." (R-App. 4 (emphasis added).) Comparing the new law to the prior version that allowed a circuit court to "impose probation or a sentence that was less than the mandatory minimum," the memo stated that "[u]nder Act 272, a court may only impose probation or a sentence that is less than the mandatory minimum under specific circumstances involving young offenders. The Act provides that a court may not impose a sentence below the mandatory minimum unless . . . the offender is convicted of possession of child pornography, and is no more than 48 months older than the child." (R-App. 4 (emphasis added).)

E. The use of the word "may" in Wis. Stat. § 948.12 does not make that statute "permissive," so there is no conflict with or ambiguity about the mandatory minimum statute.

The crux of Brott's argument is that the mandatory minimum statute "conflicts with the permissive language of Wis. Stat. § 948.12(1m)" because that statute contains the phrase "may be penalized." (Brott's Br. 19, 21–22.) Brott's argument consists of pointing to the "may" in section 948.12(1m) and the "shall" in section 939.617, and then simply asserting that "[t]he plain meaning of these two statutes cannot be reconciled." (Brott's Br. 21–22.) Describing the child pornography possession statute, he states, "The term 'may' is permissive rather than mandatory, and under Wis. Stat. § 948.12, the court is given the discretion to impose a bifurcated sentence under Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2), i.e., a term of confinement that 'may not exceed 15 years' and a 'term of extended supervision [that] may not be less than 25 percent of the length of the term of confinement' and 'may not exceed 10 years."" (Brott's Br. 21.)

The first problem with Brott's strained reading is that it contravenes the rule that "statutes should be reasonably construed *to avoid conflict.*" *Szulczewski*, 216 Wis. 2d at 503– 04 (emphasis added).

The second is that it rests solely on the statute's use of the word "may," which he gives more significance than it warrants. The use of the word "may" does not automatically render a provision permissive, and its mere use does not overcome "indications of legislative intent to the contrary":

The word "may," when used in a statute, usually implies some degree of discretion. This common-sense principle of statutory construction is by no means invariable, however, . . . and can be defeated by indications of legislative intent to the contrary or by obvious inferences from the structure and purpose of the statute.

United States v. Rodgers, 461 U.S. 677, 706 (1983) (footnote omitted) (citations omitted). This deference to "the structure and purpose of the statute," see id., is consistent with the well-settled principle that a word is interpreted in its context and with reference to "the language of surrounding or closely-related statutes." Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 46.

The words "may be penalized under sub. (3)" were added when the legislature added sub. (3) and made the offense a Class D or Class I felony depending on the age of the offender. In that context, it makes sense to read the words "may be penalized" as simply indicating that the person who has violated the statute is subject to one of the penalties listed in sub. (3).

Moreover, the "legislature is presumed to act with full knowledge of existing laws," *see Trongeau*, 135 Wis. 2d at 192, Knowing the existence of the "may be penalized" language added in 2005, the legislature enacted ever-stricter rules for mandatory minimum sentences for defendants who are at least 18 and not close in age to the child victims of the pornography. It acted deliberately to constrain the discretion of circuit courts in these cases. This is an indication that in the view of the legislature, the language added in 2005 to Wis. Stat. § 948.12 is not a free-standing grant of discretion to circuit courts to decide whether or not to penalize a person who violates the child pornography possession statute. If it were, it would have been changed.

The statute that defines the crime of possessing child pornography does not make penalizing the person who violates it "permissive" or optional. It is not fairly read to grant circuit courts discretion not to penalize persons guilty of a Class D felony. There is no conflict between the child pornography statute and the mandatory minimum statute. The statutes are easily read and interpreted in harmony.

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